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Foreword by the Chairman of the Board of 
Governors

It gives me great pleasure in this my first year as 
Chairman of the Board of Governors to introduce the 
third Annual Report and Financial Statements of the 
University of Gibraltar.

This year we have seen the introduction of legislation 
appointing the Gibraltar Regulatory Authority to 
provide quality assurance and safeguard academic 
standards in respect of the University’s academic 
programme.

This is something which we greatly welcome as it 
assists us in meeting our commitment to ensuring that 
our academic offering will be quality assured through 
the full range of quality processes that apply to UK 
higher education institutions.

We have now moved from strategy development to 
strategy implementation and am delighted to be able 
to report that we have already this academic year 

successfully launched the following credit bearing 
programmes:
 - Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons)   
   full and part time.
  - MSc in Marine Science and Climate Change.

Others such as an MA in Mediterranean Studies will 
shortly follow.

Areas where we are looking at as matters of priority 
include Health Studies, Tourism and Hospitality, a Post 
Graduate Certificate of Education (PGCE) as well as an 
MBA with likely specifications in Fintech, gaming and 
other areas relevant to the business sector of Gibraltar.
Following the introduction of the University of 
Gibraltar (Academic Board) Regulations 2018 a new 
Academic Board has been established which will assist 
the University as we continue to grow and develop 
to fulfil its academic provision and pursue its current 
strategic imperatives.

Albert Langston
Chairman of the Board of Governors
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Foreword by the Chairman of the Board of 
Governors (cont.)

The challenge for the Board of Governors and the 
senior management team is to ensure the University 
can achieve the strategic objectives which we have set 
for success. 

The priority will and must be for the University 
to be able to fulfil its mandate to award credit to 
those students which it teaches in our high-quality 
teaching and learning facilities.  Simply entering into 
franchise arrangements whereby it teaches students 
who then graduate elsewhere is not our objective. I 
am committed to do whatever I can do to assist the 
University respond to the challenges and opportunities 
which lie ahead. I know that my colleagues who sit on 
the Board of Governors also share that commitment.
A key factor to reaching our student recruitment target 
will be when the student residential accommodation 
at Europa Point becomes available. This is expected 
to be available at the start of the next academic year.

I also wish to express my good wishes to those 
members of the Board whose term ended earlier this 
year.

The University owes a debt of gratitude to Jose Julio 
Pisharello who was the first Chairman of the Board of 
Governors as well as to Peter Montegriffo and Ernest 
Gomez who have also served since its inception.

I am also pleased to welcome Darren Grech who has 
joined the Board at the same time as I have as well as 
delighted to report that Frank Carreras – Chair of the 
Board Audit Committee – has agreed to continue for a 
further term of office.

I am also delighted that Louise Garcia sits on the 
Board having been elected to represent the staff of 
the University.

The Board is also most grateful to the generosity 
received from its continuing relationship with the 
Parasol Foundation Trust. The new Parasol Scholarship 
is designed to remove the barriers faced by students 
who cannot access higher education for financial 
reasons.

The Board is grateful for the continued support 
which it receives from HM Government of Gibraltar. 
It depends on the financial support which it provides 
until it becomes self-funding. It also enjoys a good and 
close working relationship with the Hon Gilbert Licudi 
MP QC, Minister responsible for the University who 
had the vision and was instrumental in the setting up 

of the University of Gibraltar in the first place.
None of all this would be possible without the hard 
work and dedication of the University’s key asset, its 
staff and on behalf of the Board I would like to extend 
my thanks. I also wish to thank my fellow Board 
members, Joey Britto for his continued involvement, 
and our Chancellor, Lord Luce, for all their hard work 
and commitment.

Albert Langston
Chairman of the Board of Governors
20 December 2018
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This year has been an eventful one for the University of 
Gibraltar and it is with great pleasure that I share some 
of the academic highlights for the 2017/18 period.

A key focus has been the development of additional 
academic programmes. As a result, during the course 
of the year the Academic Board approved two new 
programmes for launch in September 2018; the 
Bachelor of Business Administration with Honours 
(BBA Hons) and the MSc in Marine Science and Climate 
Change. Both programmes were developed in line with 
the UK Quality Assurance Agency (QAA) Quality Code 
and included a review by a Validation Panel comprised 
of external experts. Notably for the BBA Hons, the 
expert panel commended the programme’s design, 
structure and use of placement experiences.

I am also pleased to report that both programmes were 
successfully launched in September 2018. The part-
time, block-delivery model used by the MSc in Marine 
Science and Climate Change has been particularly 
attractive to local students. The BBA (Hons), in addition
to attracting part-time students, has also attracted our 
first cohort of full-time students, including a number of 
international students.

In line with increasing numbers of students, our Student 
Experience Office (SEO) was established in May 2018 
and resourced with two full-time staff, a Student 
Experience Manager and a Student Experience Senior 
Officer. Since being established, numerous support 
structures have been put in place to ensure that 
students receive the best possible experience whilst at 
the University of Gibraltar.

Looking further ahead, we will launch a further three 
programmes at the start of the 2019/20 academic 
year: a Master of Business Administration (offered 
both part-time and full-time), a MA in Mediterranean 
Studies, and a Post Graduate Certificate in Education.

The MBA is being developed in collaboration with 
a university in the top 3% globally and the PGCE is 
being developed in collaboration with a well-known 
UK university. We also anticipate our numbers of 
international students will grow in the 2019/20 
academic year as a result of an active regional and 
international recruitment campaign and the availability
of University student accommodation from August 
2019.

Another highlight of the past year, came in the form of 
the external examiner report for our PhD programme, 
which currently has 16 students (comprised of 14 
part-time and two full-time students; the latter being 
Commonwealth scholars). External examination is one 
of the quality mechanisms used by the University to 

ensure that our standards of provision remain aligned 
with or above the UK standards. This year, the review 
was completed by Professor Gina Wisker, Head of 
Learning and Teaching, University of Brighton.

Following a review of all programme documentation, 
an onsite visit and meetings with PhD supervisors and 
students Professor Wisker reported that the University 
PhD programme is “characterised by a real concern for 
quality and care, ensuring that students have a well-
managed and structured, high class experience in terms 
of facilities, infrastructural support and appropriate 
supervision”.

The report closed with the statement “The University 
of Gibraltar has developed a high quality, well managed, 
well-resourced and lovingly cared for PhD programme 
with the students and their research at the heart of 
the system and in line with fulfilling the University’s 
aim in being a world class location for research and 
PhD study”.

In addition to our academic and research programmes, 
provision of Professional Development courses 
continued to reflect industry needs. The Professional 
Certificate of Competence in Gibraltar Law now in 
its third year again received positive feedback from 
students and an external review. The Professional 
Certificate of Competence in Gibraltar Tax as well as a 
raft of professional body courses such as AAT, CII and 
CILEx continued to respond to industry demand. 

A further highlight of the year was the launch of the New 
Technologies in Education Key Advisory Group. The 
mission of this Group is to facilitate the development 
and delivery of educational programmes in new 
technologies that enhance and develop expertise in 
Gibraltar and abroad across the education sector and 
industry. A number of short courses for industry are 
planned covering topics such as Blockchain. 

In addition, we are in the process of developing a New 
Technologies Professional Certificate of Competence 
course for launch in 2019.

Again, looking towards the future, Brexit will without 
a doubt have implications for both student and staff 
recruitment and research funding. The University will 
continue to prepare for these challenges by focusing on 
its strengths and taking advantage of the opportunities 
that also lie ahead. 

In closing, I would like to take this opportunity to 
emphasise that the achievements of the University 
highlighted in this Annual Report are ultimately due to 
the commitment to excellence and professionalism of 
all the Unigib team in everything they do. 

Vice-Chancellor’s Executive Summary
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I would also like to thank Ruth Parasol and the 
Parasol Foundation Trust, whose generosity has been 
fundamental in enabling the University to progress with 
programme development and student recruitment, 
and The Kishin Alwani Foundation for its support in 
furnishing and equipping our student common room. 

My gratitude also extends to our Chancellor Lord Luce 
and to our Board of Governors for their support and 
guidance.

Finally, on behalf of the University community, I want to 
thank HM Government of Gibraltar for its substantial 
commitment, which continues to enable us to create 
a modern higher education institution supporting 
innovative, inspiring and participative modern learning.

Professor Catherine Bachleda
Vice-Chancellor (Ag.)
20 December 2018

Vice-Chancellor’s Executive Summary
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Operating Review

A Year of Consolidation and Progress

The University maintained its steady progress during 
the 2017/18 academic year which saw continued 
increases in courses, tuition fees and student numbers. 

Total students enrolled:
2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Academic Programmes* 19 18 8

Professional Courses and 
Certificates 157 151 181

Short Courses 123 108 64

299 277 253

*Academic Programmes do not include students enrolled with GHA 
School of Health Studies who received part of their tuition at the 
University. Academic credit is awarded by Kingston University, 
London, and St George’s University, London.  Students enrolled on 
Primer I (2016/17) and Primer II (2017/18) which were promotional 
courses for the MSc Marine Science and Climate Change are 
included in short courses.

Academic Programme Development 

The following matters were progressed during the 
year:
• Primer I (which commenced in late July 2017) 

and Primer II, in November 2017, both four-day 
short courses in Marine Biology, Ecosystems and 
Conservation, were successfully delivered. 

• Building on the successful launch of the Primer I 
and II courses, a full Masters in Marine Science and 
Climate Change programme was completed and 
successfully validated and approved for launch in 
September 2018 and early student feedback has 
been positive.

• Foundations were also laid for the development of 
a Masters degree in Mediterranean Studies, with 
the target launch date for the full programme set 
for September 2019.

• A full-time qualified Librarian was engaged in 
May 2018. This post, financed by the Parasol 
Foundation Trust, has enabled an expansion of 
the online resources of the University’s Parasol 
Library to be undertaken, with particular emphasis 
on expanding the research areas most needed by 
the University’s PhD students and other academic 
programmes. The Parasol Librarian has also 
progressed and expanded the Gibraltar Libraries 
Forum and the Gibraltar Repository. 

School of Business 

During 2017/18 work commenced on development of 
an undergraduate business degree to be offered from 
September 2018. The resulting Bachelor of Business 
Administration (Hons) programme (BBA) was validated 
and approved and the programme commenced in 
September 2018. Early student feedback has again 
been positive. 

The development of a Master of Business 
Administration (MBA) programme, due to commence 
in September 2019, is currently being pursued.

The University has engaged an external student 
recruitment consultant to assist with the marketing 
of the BBA and future MBA programmes, as well as 
other programmes, to international students. As part 
of its international recruitment strategy, the University 
will be attending a number of international student 
recruitment fairs. 

The School of Business also provided the Professional 
Certificate of Competence in Gibraltar Law and the 
Professional Certificate of Competence in Gibraltar 
Tax, both of which were well received.

School of Sport 

The University’s School of Sport was launched in 
January 2018 with Lord Sebastian Coe, President of 
the International Association of Athletic Federations 
(IAAF), present as guest of honour. 

The Integrated Master of Sport Management was 
validated and approved and the programme was 
scheduled to commence in September 2018. 
Promotion of the course commenced immediately 
upon its approval by Academic Board in November 
2017, however despite an extensive marketing 
campaign, enrolments did not meet the minimum 
number required and the programme was not offered 
in September 2018 as had been intended. 

The Sports Coaching Award was developed during the 
year and offered for the first time in September 2018. 
This 11 week course combines theory and practice 
to give a unique insight into the contemporary sports 
coaching industry. Student feedback has been positive.
A new Professional Certificate of Competence in 
Sport Management, which will run over six months, is 
expected to commence in January 2019.
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Other Academic and Faculty Development  

Development work for programmes including a 
future Post Graduate Certificate in Education, 
and programmes in tourism, hospitality and event 
management, as well as sports, amongst others, 
continues.

The University of London (International) undergraduate 
Business Degrees programme which started in 2015 
was again successfully delivered. This programme will 
draw to a close over the next one or two academic 
years, with most students having transferred to the 
University’s own Bachelor of Business Administration 
(Hons) programme. No new students will be enrolled 
on this programme.

Beacon Professors

During the year the University’s first Beacon professors,  
Professor David Abulafia and the Hon. John Cortes, 
delivered their inaugural lectures. Professor Abulafia’s 
lecture “How to write a history of the Mediterranean 
Sea”, and Professor Cortes’ lecture “Nature and Man in 
far flung islands” were both well received.

Beacon Professors are unique to the University 
of Gibraltar and the title is symbolic of their role to 
spread the light of knowledge, to inspire students and 
illuminate their life paths. 

Local and International Partnerships

Important progress was made in relation to developing 
University partnerships during the period including; 

• Memoranda of Understanding were signed with 
the Gibraltar Island Games Association, the 
Gibraltar Sports and Leisure Authority, and the 
Gibraltar Football Association.

• The University signed a constitutive agreement 
with the Network of Universities of Small 
Countries and Territories to facilitate collaboration 
with comparable small territory higher education 
institutions.

• The ClimACT Interreg III SUDOE project went from 
strength to strength. An international conference 
was held at the University in September 2018, and 
joint teams from the University went on working 
visits to France and Spain.

• Several Erasmus+ student and staff exchanges 
took place during the year.

• Support was provided to the GHA School of 

Health Studies in delivering their BSc in Nursing 
(Adult) programme.

Developing a Research Presence 

The University’s flagship PhD programme involving 13 
researchers between first, second and third years was 
further developed, and the programme for the year 
was successfully delivered. 

New submissions of PhD Research proposals for the 
2018/19 academic year, involving Gibraltar and/or 
Mediterranean-related subjects, were also invited. For 
the first time the submissions included applications for 
the newly available Commonwealth Scholarship which 
provides financial support for PhD study including all 
University fees, some travel, and a monthly allowance 
for a 3-year full-time period of study.

The research presence of both Research Institutes,  
the Institute of Life and Earth Sciences and the 
Institute for Gibraltar and Mediterranean Studies,  
both locally and abroad saw further development over 
the past year. The University again hosted the annual 
Calpe Conference the September 2018 conference 
marked the 170th anniversary of the discovery of 
the Forbes’ Quarry Neanderthal skull in 1848 with 
a diversity of high-level international speakers in the 
field of Neanderthals and prehistory. The participation 
of several institute academics at the Mediterranean 
Studies Conference in Sorrento, July 2018, also saw an 
increased level of interest in Gibraltar. The University 
will assume the presidency of the Mediterranean 
Studies Association as from May 2019 for one year, 
and it will host the conference in 2020. Both Institutes 
have also contributed to the University’s increasing 
research presence with the preparation of research 
bids for Horizon 2020 and the Arts and Humanities 
Research Council. 

A group comprising representatives of the University’s 
research team, the Department of Education and the 
Department of the Environment & Climate Change, 
visited Madrid as part of the EU-funded ClimACT 
project. An earlier joint trip to France with First School 
delegates also took place. The ClimACT initiative aims 
to support the transition to a low carbon economy in 
schools. This collaborative project was a finalist for a 
prestigious RegioStars Award.

The University also funded research on excavations at 
a medieval site by the old St. Bernard’s Hospital, and 
into bats and crag martins in Gibraltar caves. 

Operating Review
(cont.)
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Institute of Professional Development and Continuing 
Education
  
Through its Institute of Professional Development 
and Continuing Education, the University continued 
to focus during 2017/18 on its existing suite of 
professionally accredited courses and on continuing 
professional development for graduates and working 
professionals.

Existing professional programmes included;
• The Association of Accounting Technicians 

courses (AAT).
• The Professional Skills Course as determined 

by the Solicitors Regulatory Authority (ran in 
September 2018).

New professional programmes included;
• The Chartered Institute of Legal Executives (CILEx) 

Level 3 Professional Diploma in Law and Practice
• Chartered Insurance Institute (CII) Fast-Track 

Diploma

Development work was also carried out during the 
year for a number of courses expected to be offered in 
future years, and further details will follow in our next 
annual report. These courses are in relation to:

• Professional Certificate of Competence in the 
area of New Technologies

• Digital Innovation Course
• Workshops in Business Management
• Workshops in Blockchain

Short Courses, including courses for Continuing 
Professional Development during the year, focused 
on Business, Finance and Internationalisation.  The 
Financial and Management Accounting courses proved 
popular being delivered in February, April and May.

The University is an accredited centre for various 
professional bodies, such as AAT, CII, ACCA and 
ICAEW, hosting handwritten or computer based 
exams, and it has provided examination facilities 
for six UK universities as well as other international 
universities.

Events related to professional development during the 
year included our annual Professional Development 
Open Day held in June.

Europa Point Language Centre (EPLC) 

An experienced, full time Programme Coordinator was 
recruited for the Language Centre in January 2018 
and a variety of courses have been, and continue to 
be, developed. In addition to conversational language 
courses, these courses are expected to include 
English for academic purposes, English for specific 
or professional purposes, and Spanish for business 
purposes. 

With its bilingual environment, the University of 
Gibraltar is well placed to attract students who wish to 
develop or enhance their English or Spanish language 
skills. 

With a soft launch on the University’s Open Day in 
June, the EPLC launched its general English, intensive 
English and general Spanish courses.

Physical Infrastructure Developments

University restaurant

The University restaurant, Bistro Point, officially opened 
on 20th October 2017. The restaurant is managed by 
Hunter Group and has already received praise for the 
quality of its food, provided in a spectacular location.

Europa Point Sports complex

Discussions have continued with HM Government of 
Gibraltar regarding the University relinquishing a small 
portion of its land in order to facilitate the development 
by HM Government of Gibraltar of the new Europa 
Point Sports Complex. The University expects the 
availability of these extensive sports facilities on its 
doorstep to mark a major improvement in facilities 
available to its students, as well as to provide an 
excellent base for the University’s School of Sport. 

Student residential accommodation

This project of HM Government of Gibraltar which 
will provide up to 144 residential units for students 
will greatly assist the University in marketing 
its programmes to international students. The 
accommodation is expected to become available from 
September 2019.

St Christopher’s School

Discussions have also continued with HM Government 
of Gibraltar regarding the transfer of St. Christopher’s 
School once it is released by MOD in early 2019. The 

Operating Review
(cont.)
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University continues to review options for the most 
appropriate use of this exciting new addition to the 
University’s physical estate in order to maximise its 
utilisation.

Legal and Regulatory 

Appointment of a University Regulatory Authority 

In late 2017 an external consultant, Paul Greaves 
of the Leadership Foundation for Higher Education 
(LFHE), was commissioned by the Gibraltar Regulatory 
Authority (GRA) to develop a regulatory framework for 
the University of Gibraltar. His report in January 2018 
recommended appointment of the GRA as external 
regulator of the University and made a series of 
recommendations as to the respective responsibilities 
of the GRA and the University. 

The Minister with responsibility for the University, the 
Hon. Gilbert Licudi, subsequently appointed the GRA 
as the regulator of the University and specifically as the 
Gibraltar Authority for Standards in Higher Education 
and the Gibraltar Higher Education Commission under 
the University of Gibraltar Act 2015 (‘the Act’). 

In Regulations published in accordance with the Act on 
31 May 2018, the GRA is given powers to issue (and 
has issued) a Memorandum of Regulation (MoR) to 
the University as well as powers to obtain information 
from the University and to issue enforcement notices 
if it considers that the University is failing to comply 
with the Act or with requirements under the MoR. 

In accordance with the MoR, the University will provide 
the GRA with a variety of financial and governance 
reports, and other documentation including a report 
from the University’s Academic Board, on an annual 
basis by December following the respective July 
financial year end.

Looking further ahead, the GRA MoR specifies that a 
full Quality Assurance Agency review of the University 
should be undertaken by 2022, or ideally earlier if 
possible. 

Academic Governance

In April 2018, the Minister with responsibility for 
the University expressed concern that the Academic 
Board may not have been formally established in strict 
conformity with the University of Gibraltar Act 2015. 

An external consultant, Paul Greaves (LFHE) was 
commissioned in July 2018 to develop regulations for 
the formal establishment of the University's Academic 
Board taking into account:

• The University of Gibraltar Act 2015;
• Regulations establishing the GRA as the 

University’s regulatory authority and the GRA 
Memorandum of Regulation;

• The UK Quality Code, and 
• Normal practice governing academic boards in UK 

universities. 

Based on Paul Greaves’ subsequent report the 
Minister published the University of Gibraltar (Academic 
Board) Regulations 2018 on 24 September 2018. 
These Regulations were then adopted as the Terms 
of Reference for the University’s Academic Board 
in October 2018 during its first meeting as a re-
constituted Academic Board.

Donor Relationships and Fundraising 

The University has benefitted considerably from 
obtaining private sponsorship which is a vital source of 
revenue for most modern universities. 

The relationship with the Parasol Foundation Trust, 
announced in December 2017, involving the sum of 
£600,000 over a period of 3 to 4 years, continues 
to evolve and this remains the University’s foremost 
donor relationship to date. These funds will be invested 
mainly to commission, acquire or develop educational 
resources, software and curriculum development, 
and on the University’s Parasol Library (https://www.
unigib.edu.gi/library/) in accordance with explicit 
donor requirements as stated in the deed of donation. 

In October 2018 the Parasol Foundation Trust 
announced a further generous donation in the form 
of the Parasol Scholarship Fund. The new scholarship 
fund provides up to £50,000 per annum over a three-
year period and its main purpose is to finance tuition 
fees for 5 full time Bachelor of Business Administration 
students who would not otherwise have been able to 
afford to study at university. 

Another important donor relationship was announced 
in April 2018 with the Kishin Alwani Foundation 
agreeing to fund a complete refurbishment of The 
Kishin Alwani Foundation Student Common Room for 
the sum of £42,000. This common room is designed 
to enrich the student experience by providing a more 

Operating Review
(cont.)
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informal place where students can build connections 
and collaborate. 

These, and future major donor partnerships, will allow 
the University to advance development of specific 
projects of interest to donors. 

Community Events

The University launched its third series of the popular 
Gibraltar History Lectures which featured a wide 
variety of guest speakers.

In February 2018 the University also hosted for the 
first time the Universities Fair. Several UK universities 
participated, and a team from University of Gibraltar 
also attended to provide information to local students 
on forthcoming programmes offered in September 
2018.

Community Involvement 

As in previous years, to the extent that the University’s 
student and educational priorities permit, use of the 
University Campus is frequently made available to 
a variety of community groups. During the course 
of 2017/18 these have included hosting Young 
Enterprise, Cyber Centurion, Club House Gibraltar, 
Gibraltar Archives Movie Nights, Gibraltar Island 
Games Association, and other public sector bodies or 
community groups.

Campus Venue Hire

The University must seek to maximise the return from 
its Campus and facilities in order to further its goal 
of progress towards self-financing and it regularly 
hires out Campus space for public and private sector 
events. Growing awareness during 2017/18 of the 
University’s offering has resulted in increasing venue 
hire activity. Further details appear in Financial Review.

Student Experience

Improving the student experience carries the highest 
priority and the University’s Student Experience 
Office (SEO) was established in May 2018.  This has 
allowed increased focus to be brought to establishing 
or improving numerous support structures to ensure 
that students receive the best possible experience 
whilst at the University. Students are now offered 
a structured induction and orientation programme 
covering key areas such as campus facilities, wellbeing 

and counselling services, access to an individually 
tailored Student Experience portal, library access and 
resources, and ICT services.

Close links have also been maintained and enhanced 
during the year with visa and immigration authorities 
to ensure the University is able to provide outstanding 
support to prospective international students 
throughout their application process. Prospective 
students also receive timely correspondence and 
support throughout the application process with the 
assistance of a newly adopted CRM system enabling 
the team to monitor and track leads. 

International students, as well as local students, 
receive tailored student handbooks which provide 
them with vital information to ensure they maximise 
their experience during their journey at the University. 
These handbooks, together with the launch of 
a Student Experience Portal which hosts vital 
information on University services and upcoming 
student events, have proved effective with a marked 
increase in activity on the portal.

ICT Developments

ICT developments during 2017/18 included works 
related to the purchasing of additional switch port 
capacity to increase the number of devices that can 
connect to the University’s infrastructure, and the 
design and launch of e-days, an annual leave and 
sickness tracker which facilitates absence management 
for organisations of all sizes. There was also further 
development of the University’s virtual learning 
environment, Canvas, to include the use of “Office 
365”, and also “Attendance +”, a student attendance 
monitoring system. The University will continue to 
explore new and innovative ways to use the virtual 
management system to help our staff and students 
learn and communicate together.

During 2017/18 the University has continued to invest 
and develop its ICT service offering, always maintaining 
high levels of service and successfully obtaining 
recertification with the Cyber Essentials and Cyber 
Essentials Plus awards. This government-backed cyber 
security certification scheme sets out an appropriate 
cyber security baseline suitable for all organisations 
in all sectors, and addresses five key controls that, 
when implemented correctly, can prevent around 80% 
of cyber-attacks. The University ICT team also rolled 
out Windows 10 and encryption in order to meet the 
growing demands of both students and staff members. 

Operating Review
(cont.)
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Strategic Planning and Reporting

The University expects to issue an iteration of its cur-
rent Strategic Plan for the period 2017-2022 in early 
2019. It is intended that this revised Strategic Plan will 
continue to be subject to at least annual review and 
further updates will be made if appropriate. The Uni-
versity considers the preparation and periodic review 
of its Strategic Plan to be an essential process that will 
provide greater clarity of direction and will also map 
the development and growth of the University over 
the remaining term of the Strategic Plan period.

Preparation and periodic review of the Strategic Plan 
involves critical decisions, and some compromises, as 
the University considers the most viable options for 
its future, consistent with its obligations under the 
University of Gibraltar Act 2015, and also consistent 
with the economic and strategic development of Gi-
braltar, including external influences such as Brexit. 
The process of consultation to ascertain viability and 
understand the expectations of our main stakeholders 
has involved, and will continue to involve, HM Gov-
ernment of Gibraltar, business, community, health and 
academic sectors, staff and students, among others.

The present Strategic Plan provides a vision of what 
could define the University by 2022, and it explores 
this vision in depth by considering the University’s; 

• Curriculum portfolio
• Priorities in research and research education
• Learning and pedagogical approach
• Campus and operations management
• Student engagement and support services
• Corporate commitment and social responsibility 

The current Strategic Plan also provides details on 
specific commitments and explains how success may 
be measured. It is intended that the 2019 iteration 
will result in a shorter, sharper articulation of strategic 
goals and provide more quantified targets. 

The University’s objectives are contained within its 
principal mission which is to respond to current soci-
etal needs as well as shape personal and profession-
al futures through the pursuit of education, training, 
and research. To attain these objectives, the Universi-
ty is committed to high quality teaching and learning, 
world-leading research, academic freedom, as well as 
to the sustainable development of Gibraltar, and the 
region. Partnerships with business, government, char-
itable foundations, healthcare and educational institu-
tions lie at the heart of the University’s mission. Fur-
ther details of the University’s strategy for achieving 

these objectives as well as its requirements under the 
University of Gibraltar Act 2015 will be provided in the 
2019 iteration of the Strategic Plan. 

The continuing challenges and uncertainties posed by 
Brexit continue to be major factors when considering 
future plans and the University will maintain its close 
liaison with HM Government of Gibraltar in order to 
anticipate Brexit related risks as far as possible, and 
also to try to benefit from new opportunities resulting 
from Brexit. The areas likely to be most affected in-
clude future student mobility, access to research fund-
ing, levels of tuition fees, and changes to immigration 
law affecting student recruitment from EU countries.

As indicated in the two previous annual reports, in 
the early years of the University’s development there 
is a continuing need for significant investment in de-
veloping curriculum material for the new courses the 
University plans to roll out over the following twelve 
months and beyond. The new Bachelor of Business 
Administration (Hons) and MSc Marine Science and 
Climate Change programmes commenced in Septem-
ber 2018 and are expected to remain core University 
programmes for the foreseeable future. The Master of 
Business Administration and Post Graduate Certificate 
in Education will follow in 2019/20. Further invest-
ment will also be made to develop programmes related 
to Mediterranean studies, Neanderthal ecology, and in 
Tourism, Hospitality and Event Management.

Facilities and opportunities for students of the Uni-
versity’s flagship PhD programme, including significant 
investment in the University’s Parasol Library, will con-
tinue to have a high priority, as will the continuing de-
velopment of the new Europa Point Language Centre 
which commenced in the 2017/18 academic year.

From a professional education perspective, over the 
next twelve months the University will launch a Pro-
fessional Certificate of Competence in Blockchain and 
Smart Technologies and will extend its offering of pro-
fessional insurance courses to include the CII Certifi-
cate and CII Diploma. Other by now well-established 
professional courses including AAT, CILEx, and the 
professional certificates for Law and Tax will continue. 
The University will also expand its short course offer-
ing to include DLT/ Blockchain, Digital Innovation and 
related new technologies short courses. 

The overall commercial success of all these new pro-
grammes, including those still in the planning and de-
velopment stages, is essential for the University to be 
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able to progress as planned towards greater self-fi-
nancing. Investment in marketing and promotion of 
the new programmes, including participation at select-
ed student recruitment fairs, will also be given a high 
priority over the next twelve months as the University 
seeks to establish itself in a competitive international 
student market.

The University will continue to seek new private fund-
ing partnerships, and to reinforce existing donor part-
nerships, to support its curriculum development ambi-
tions as well as fund facilities to enhance the student 
experience. The University appreciates that private 
donor organisations must be satisfied their donations 
to the University fully achieve donor organisations’ 
charitable objects and ambitions, which align with the 
University’s own mission, and the University will spare 
no effort in liaising with donors to this end. For further 
details of the University’s donor relationships please 
refer to Operating Review.

The University will continue to develop its internal 
quality assurance systems and processes in line with 
Gibraltar Regulatory Authority (GRA) expectations.

During the 2017/18 financial year the University has 
continued to contribute to the agreement of condi-
tions and establishment of processes in support of new 
immigration legislation that will enable international 
students to apply for a visa and residence permits. The 
University continues to work closely with Borders and 
Coastguard Agency, Department of Employment, and 
other HM Government of Gibraltar departments and 
advisers to ensure international students are made 
welcome at the University, including allowing them 
the possibility of gaining valuable work experience 
subject to meeting the required conditions.

As reported in the previous annual report, there will 
be major impacts on the University’s physical infra-
structure over the next 12-18 months. The Campus 
footprint will approximately double in size with the 
transfer, expected during the course of 2019, of the 
St. Christopher’s School site. The manner in which 
this exciting addition to the University’s physical es-
tate takes place is currently under consideration. The 
construction by HM Government of Gibraltar of two 
student residential blocks which will accommodate up 
to 144 students is another important milestone. The 
precise terms on which this accommodation will be 
made available to University students from the aca-
demic year 2019/20 onwards will be finalised in due 
course.  

These two major developments will provide essential 
physical infrastructure to secure conditions needed 
for the University to continue to grow for the foresee-
able future, and are critical to the University’s progress 
towards greater self-financing.

The University will continue to seek to extend its in-
ternational partnerships, including signing Memoranda 
of Understanding (MoUs) with suitable universities in 
the UK and elsewhere as opportunities arise. Brexit 
brings with it opportunities and challenges, and the 
University will continue to consider strategic working 
relationships with universities in Spain as efforts are 
strengthened to develop regional collaboration in a 
post-Brexit scenario. 

For further details of the University’s development 
and performance throughout the financial year and 
position at the end of the financial year, and its future 
prospects, please refer to Financial Review.

For a description of the principal risks and uncertain-
ties faced by the University please refer to Financial 
Risk Management.
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The University’s wholly owned subsidiary, The 
University of Gibraltar Limited, a company limited by 
guarantee and having a share capital, has continued to 
act as the University’s main operational entity. Other 
than ownership of the Campus land and buildings, and 
a limited amount of EU grant funding, the bulk of the 
University’s activities have been conducted via this 
subsidiary company. 

The financial statements for the 2017/18 financial 
year have been presented under Gibraltar Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (GFRS 102) and the Statement 
of Recommended Practice - Accounting for Further 
and Higher Education 2015 (issued by the Further 
and Higher Education SORP Board, recognised by the 
UK Financial Reporting Council Codes and Standards 
Committee as the SORP making body for further and 
higher education). 

Annual Income and Surplus

The University’s Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 July 
2018 is summarised below, reflecting activity during 
the University’s third academic year of operation.  
  

Year ended 
31 July 

2018

Year ended 
31 July 

2017

£ £

Income 1,934,711 2,579,083

Donations and Endowments 456,000 1,000

Expenditure (2,490,686) (1,926,657)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - (19,203)

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year (99,975) 634,223

All significant movements in income and expenditure 
are further explained below. 

Donations and Endowments is comprised almost 
entirely of the generous donation received from 
the Parasol Foundation Trust in November 2017 in 
the sum of £450,000, being the first tranche of the 
£600,000 donation agreed by the Parasol Foundation 
Trust for use in accordance with the applicable donor 
agreement.  In accordance with relevant accounting 
standards this donation is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income under donations and 
endowments on entitlement to the income.  The funds 
were mainly used to develop the Parasol Library and to 
invest in curriculum development for new University 

programmes. 

The balance of unexpended donation funds held as 
at 31 July 2018 was £296,331 (2017: £nil) in respect 
of donations with restrictions and is shown as part of 
restricted reserves on Note 18.

The loss on disposal of fixed assets in 2016/17 was 
an exceptional item and relates to damaged server 
equipment which was disposed of due to a server 
room water leak. 

Income 

Consolidated Income Analysis

Year ended 
31 July 

2018

Year ended 
31 July 

2017

£ £

Tuition fees and education 
contracts 372,770 252,048

Funding body grants 1,423,265 2,206,928

Research grants and contracts 44,027 29,320

Other income 94,649 90,787

Total income before 
endowments and donations 1,934,711 2,579,083

The University achieved significant growth in tuition 
fees compared to the previous year and this is 
expected to continue to increase with the increase 
in course provision and student enrolments. Overall 
tuition fee income increased to £373k, a rise of £121k 
from the previous year. Tuition fee income includes 
income from undergraduate, post graduate (including 
research awards), professional courses, language and 
short courses. 

All students were enrolled on a part time basis, as 
in the University’s first two academic years. The first 
cohort which included some full-time students was 
enrolled on the Bachelor of Business Administration 
(Hons) programme which commenced in September 
2018.  Fees received for the flagship PhD research 
programme accounted for £93k (2017: £75k) or 25% 
of total tuition fee income (2016/17: 30%).

Tuition fees are typically benchmarked by reference to 
comparable course fees in UK and, where appropriate, 
to comparable local fees.

Research grant income increased from £29k to £44k 
mainly due to income realised in relation to ERASMUS 

Financial Review
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funding for staff mobility. Income continues to be 
received from the ClimACT research project which 
commenced in July 2016 and will come to an end in 
June 2019. 

Other income is comprised mainly of amounts received 
from venue hire, conferences and examination 
centre fees which increased from £61k to £72k, 
reflecting progress of venue hire and conferencing 
services and the University’s offering in these areas 
becoming better known.  Other income also includes 
a total of £17k of Restaurant rental income from 
the Bistro Point Restaurant which opened in late 
2017, and other amounts in relation to bank interest 
receivable and student shop income. The University 
expects Restaurant income to increase as it becomes 
established in the local market and in line with the 
University’s own increasing activity. 

The main source of income during the financial 
period continued to be direct grant funding from 
HM Government of Gibraltar (2017/18 : £1.4M; 
2016/17 : £2.2M). There has been a decrease in the 
grant received during the year (HM Government of 
Gibraltar financial year ending 31 March 2019 grant 
of £1.5M, HM Government of Gibraltar financial year 
ended 31 March 2018 £1.9M) together with a timing 
difference occurring on the final quarterly tranche 
which was received after the year end. The University 
expects direct grant funding to continue although this 
is expected to decrease further over time, as tuition 

fees and other sources of income increase and the 
University progresses towards greater self-financing 
as required by the University of Gibraltar Act 2015.  
The HM Government of Gibraltar grant received 
was mainly utilised for recurring and non-recurring 
operational expenses, with some of the funding also 
used for the capital items purchased during the year. 

Expenditure

Year ended 
31 July 

2018

Year ended 
31 July 

2017

Change 
in year

£ £ %

Staff costs 1,312,708 996,964 32%

Other operating 
expenses 937,790 706,688 33%

Depreciation 240,188 223,005 8%

Expenditure 2,490,686 1,926,657

Staff costs continued to be the most significant 
expense item and this has increased by 32% from 
2016/17. The University has applied cost of living 
pay increases in line with the Gibraltar public sector 
at 2.75% each financial year (until August 2018 when 
new public sector cost of living pay increases were 
applicable) and the remaining increase is principally 
due to increases in the staff complement. The average 
number of staff during the financial year has increased 

Income Analysis in 2016/17 and 2017/18

Funding body grants

Research grants and contracts

Other income

£500,000 £1,000,000 £1,500,000 £2,000,000 £2,500,000

 £252,048

 £372,770

 £2,206,928

 £1,423,265

 £29,320

 £44,027

 £90,787

 £94,649

 £1,000

 £456,000

2016/17

2017/18
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to 30 which includes permanent as well as part-time 
tutors (2016/17: average staff 23). This expenditure 
component is expected to continue to rise, although 
at a significantly lower rate, in the 2018/19 financial 
year as the University expands its range of courses and 
activities in line with its strategic planning. Staff costs 
accounted for 53% of total expenditure (2016/17: 
52%).

Other operating expenses have increased as expected 

in line with the increase in University activity. An 
analysis of other operating expenses for the current 
and previous financial year is shown in the graph below. 
The main increase in this category is attributable to 
Academic and related expenditure (2017/18: £337k, 
2016/17: £199k) reflecting increased investment 
in the development of the University’s academic 
curriculum and infrastructure. Staff development 
expenses have increased by £23k due to the amounts 
expensed in relation to ERASMUS+ programmes.

Financial Review
(cont.)

Analysis of other operating expenses 2016/17 and 2017/18

 £199,083

 £337,376

 £213,243

 £247,971

 £12,581

 £4,565

 £13,488

 £30,690

 £241,280

 £266,882

2016/17

2017/18

 £400,000 £300,000 £200,000 £100,000 £50,000

Academic and related 
Expenditure

Premises and Facilities 
Management expenses

Catering and 
Conferences

Research grants and 
contract

Administration and 
gerneral expenses

Professional and 
consulting expenses

Staff development

 £19,659

 £19,121

 £7,892

 £30,647

Depreciation costs have increased slightly in line with 
several minor additions of capital equipment. 

The University has not relied on any external loan 
finance and therefore has not incurred any resulting 
interest costs. 
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Balance Sheet

Tangible fixed assets form the largest part of the balance 
sheet total with building refurbishment accounting for 
81% of the total and relating to building construction 
and refurbishment costs prior to opening in order to 
convert the University building to its present use.

Fixed asset additions during the year totalled £102k 
and mainly comprised of Training Kitchen and Lab 
equipment (£46K) and Computer Equipment and 
Software (£28k). The Training Kitchen and Lab 

equipment expenditure was partly in relation to 
equipment purchased before the opening of Bistro 
Point Restaurant in October 2017.

The bulk of the trade and other receivables sum of 
£131k (2016/17: £185k) relates to prepayments 
and accrued income which has remained in line with 
the prior year and is comprised of University annual 
licenses and subscriptions. 

Creditors include mainly trade payables, accruals and 
deferred income. Deferred income includes a total of 
£28k in relation to ERASMUS+ funding received for 

the period up to 31 May 2020 and £12k in relation 
to tuition fees for cross sessional courses. Deferred 
income within Creditors over one year relates entirely 
to HM Government of Gibraltar grant income which has 
been used for capital expenditure (as further explained 
in Notes 15 and 16 to the Financial Statements).  
      
The University’s consolidated Balance Sheet reflects 
a total net asset figure of £1.3m (2017: £1.4m), 
including net current assets of £579k (2017: £695k) 
and a current asset ratio of 2.5 (2017: 2.8). Net 
current assets include accumulated tuition fee income 
and donations received which are reflected in bank 
balances held at the year end.

Cash flows

The balances of cash and cash equivalents of £838k, 
reflect increased levels of cash compared to the closing 
position at 31 July 2017 (£689k). However, the amount 
as at 31 July 2018 includes a sum of £296k which 
relates to donations with restrictions (2017: £nil). It 
is anticipated that cash balances will reduce as major 
investments in curriculum and resource development 
are pursued.

Looking Ahead

The University expects that HM Government of 
Gibraltar funding will remain at a high, although 
decreasing, level over the term of the University’s 
Strategic Plan in order to support the University’s long-
term establishment. During this time the University 
will continue to explore all appropriate measures to 
become and remain self-financing as it is required to 
do under section 35(2) of the University of Gibraltar 
Act 2015. The measures taken along this road include 
the following;

• The University’s budgeted expenditure for 
the year to 31 July 2019 will be kept within 
budgeted levels of grant income plus tuition 
fees and other income received or receivable. 
No general borrowing, which would require 
approval from the Minister under s.37 of the Act, 
or short-term borrowing, which would require 
approval of the Board under s.38, is anticipated. 

• As indicated in previous reports, capital 
expenditure during the year to 31 July 2018 
and earlier has been at significantly reduced 
levels following the high levels of investment 
related to the refurbishment of the University 

� Leasehold Land & 
Buildings  

� Building 
Refurbishment

� Training kitchen & 
Lab Equipment

� Fixtures, Fittings 
& Equipment

� Computer 
Equipment & 
Software

� Other fixed 
assets

9+3+3+81+3+1+t£4,501,971

£ 163,150
£25,302

£524,091
£194,123

£163,726
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Campus buildings leading up to the University’s 
opening in September 2015. This reduced level 
of capital expenditure on physical equipment 
and infrastructure is expected to continue in 
relation to the University’s present estate. The 
position regarding future investment in the new 
St Christopher’s site remains under consideration. 

• Construction of  student residential 
accommodation, comprising 144 self-contained 
apartments, is at an advanced stage as a project 
of HM Government of Gibraltar, being managed 
and financed by HM Government of Gibraltar. 
The Board expects the availability of this 
accommodation for University students from 
August / September 2019 onwards to be a key 
factor in the University progressing towards 
student recruitment targets and therefore 
progress towards becoming self-financing.  

• During 2018/19 there will be significant investment 
in curriculum development and development 
of partnerships to enable the University to 
provide the courses it needs to attract greater 
numbers of local and non-local students in the 
remaining term of the University’s Strategic Plan. 
In terms of curriculum development, in addition 
to a continuing focus on language, Bachelor of 
Business Administration degree, and new MBA 
and PGCE programmes, the development of 
programmes in Mediterranean studies, courses 
related to the emerging new technologies sector 
(e.g. Blockchain and smart contracts), and others 
will also be given priority. All such developments 
will be reflected in the forthcoming iteration 
of the University’s Strategic Plan expected 
in early 2019. With regard to investment in 
partnerships, 2018/19 will see renewed efforts 
to engage with other Universities to work 
towards providing courses in nursing, tourism, 
hospitality and event management, and sports.  

• Staff recruitment continues to be pursued on a 
prudent basis with a view to essential development 
and provision of courses, marketing, support 
of core services, and regulatory compliance.   

• There will continue to be a high priority given 
to achieving cost savings on routine recurring 
expenditure wherever possible, always bearing in 
mind the need to ensure the University is able to 
achieve the aims set out in its Strategic Plan. The bulk 
of the University’s facilities management services, 

including equipment maintenance, caretaker 
services, cleaning, and security, are provided by 
independent contractors, with the large majority 
of expenditure being on short-term contracts. 
These arrangements will continue to be monitored 
to ensure the University receives value for money.  

• For the near-term University tutors will continue, 
where possible, to be engaged on short-term 
contracts and paid a fixed total sum or hourly on 
the basis of agreed fixed rates in order to ensure 
cost effectiveness of tuition fees expenses. The 
employment of adjunct faculty will also be explored 
where needed. All University courses require 
preparation of detailed costings in order to identify 
any courses that may not cover at least direct costs.  

• The University will engage consultants prudently, 
always with a view to obtaining value for 
money, where advice is needed to develop the 
University’s core systems or to establish core 
markets for the University to potential students.  

• The University continues to market itself as an events 
venue to develop this important source of revenue  
and maximise the use of its physical facilities.  

• The University’s unique restaurant Bistro Point, 
managed by Hunter Group, is still at an early stage 
of development but has received praise for the 
quality of its food. It is hoped that opportunities 
for catering sector training at Bistro Point and 
increasing levels of activity will follow in due course. 

• The University has previously enjoyed significant 
success in obtaining research funding and 
employs a full time European and International 
Funding Officer in order to identify and pursue 
funding opportunities. There will be a renewed 
focus over the next 12 months on identifying 
potential sources of research funding and 
investing time to submit competitive applications.  

• The University has also benefitted considerably 
from obtaining private sponsorship which is a vital 
source of revenue for most modern universities. 
The relationship with the Parasol Foundation 
Trust, announced in December 2017, involving 
the sum of £600,000 over a period of 3 to 4 
years, continues to evolve and this remains 
the University’s foremost donor relationship 
to date. These funds will be invested mainly 
to commission, acquire or develop educational 
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resources, software and curriculum development, 
and on the University’s Parasol Library. In October 
2018 the Parasol Foundation Trust announced 
a further generous donation in the form of the 
Parasol Scholarship Fund. The new scholarship 
fund provides up to £50,000 per annum over 
a three-year period and its main purpose is to 
finance tuition fees for 5 full-time Bachelor of 
Business Administration students who would not 
otherwise have been able to afford to study at 
university. Another important donor relationship 
was announced in April 2018 with the Kishin 
Alwani Foundation agreeing to fund a complete 
refurbishment of The Kishin Alwani Foundation 
Student Common Room for the sum of £42,000.  

• Improving the student experience carries the 
highest priority for continuing investment and 
improvement. The Student Experience Office 
(SEO) was established in May 2018, and the 
University has put into place various support 
structures to ensure students receive the best 
possible experience during their course of study. 

Ruth Parasol, Paul Bowling & Catherine Bachleda
(Left to right)
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Financial Risk Management

The University takes the following steps to manage its 
financial risk:

Brexit

The approach of Brexit continues to give rise to 
important financial risks that the University will need 
to manage, including the possible impact on visas for 
EEA students and also potential issues for existing EU 
students, since the enrolment of international students 
is considered an essential part of the University’s 
strategy. Additionally, Brexit may give rise to issues 
in relation to tuition fees for EU students specifically 
and whether these must be charged at international 
rates. This is a significant risk which may affect the 
University’s potential to attract EU students.

Other Brexit related risks include concerns over 
continued access to Erasmus+ exchange programmes, 
and to EU research grants under Horizon 2020/ EISF. 
The University has had significant success in accessing 
EU research funds and whilst UK Universities will have 
access to funding via the new UK Research Office, the 
University of Gibraltar does not currently have access 
to new grants. 

The University is liaising closely with HM Government 
of Gibraltar on the above issues.  

Price risk

Tuition fees are generally influenced by market 
indicators and also by local community needs. 
Comparable UK fees are monitored by the University 
prior to launching any new courses, and fees will 
typically be set approximately in line with UK university 
fees for comparable courses. For example, the fees for 
the provision of undergraduate degrees in England are 
currently capped at £9,250 (academic year 2018/19) 
for Home (UK) and EU based students, therefore this 
will influence comparable University of Gibraltar fees. 
Account is also taken of fees charged by other local 
institutions where these may be relevant.

Other income is made up largely of venue hire services 
and examination centre fees managed by the Campus 
and Events team. The pricing of these services is mainly 
influenced by market forces in the local environment.

Credit risk

This is generally very low. Tuition fee income is made up 
of a comparatively large number of transactions which 
from the perspective of the University are individually 
not material. The extent of significant credit risk is 
therefore minimal at present. Tuition fees are often 
due from the Department of Education which further 
reduces any credit risk.

Finance staff are also proactive with regard to credit 
control and follow up on outstanding debts quickly to 
avoid significant debt problems developing.

Cash flow and liquidity risk

The University has not required any external loan 
finance so far and there are no plans for this to change 
for the foreseeable future. 

The University expects that HM Government of 
Gibraltar will continue as a principal source of funding, 
whilst it progresses over time towards becoming self-
financing as required by the University of Gibraltar Act 
2015. 
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Report of the Board of Governors and 
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Values

The Board of Governors is committed in its policy and 
practice to the Core Values and Primary Responsibilities 
as set out in its internally adopted Code of Practice, 
which are in keeping with the University’s mission and 
responsibilities. Inter alia, each Member of the Board 
is committed to:

a. Act always in the best interests of the University as 
a whole, recognising that this responsibility over-
rides any duty s/he may owe to those electing/
appointing him or her

b. Act in good faith, honestly and for a proper 
purpose

c. Exercise appropriate care and diligence
d. Not improperly use their position to gain an 

advantage for themselves or someone else
e. Disclose and avoid conflicts of interest.

Legal Status

The University of Gibraltar is a statutory body created 
by the University of Gibraltar Act 2015. It is also 
registered under the Charities Act (registered charity 
number 273). 

The University’s wholly owned subsidiary, The 
University of Gibraltar Limited, was incorporated at 
Companies House as a limited company (registered 
number 111953) on 18 August 2014, and changed its 
legal status on 31 July 2017 to a company limited by 
guarantee. The results of The University of Gibraltar 
Limited are fully consolidated in these financial 
statements.

Regulatory Framework

Important progress was made during the year, building 
on the existing regulatory framework and resulting 
in the appointment of the Gibraltar Regulatory 
Authority (GRA) as the University’s regulator. 
Under the University of Gibraltar (Regulation and 
Accountability) Regulations 2018 (‘the Regulations’), 
issued in accordance with the University of Gibraltar 
Act 2015 (‘the Act’) and which came into force on 31 
May 2018, the GRA was appointed as the University’s 
regulator on 31 May 2018. Also in accordance with 
the above mentioned Regulations, the GRA issued 
a Memorandum of Regulation (‘the Memorandum’), 
which came into force on 1 June 2018, setting out 
how;

a. the quality and standards of education in the 
University shall be monitored;

b. compliance by the University with its functions, 
duties and obligations under the Act shall be 
monitored;

c. the use by the University of its funds including any 
public funds provided to it shall be monitored;

d. other aspects of the University’s performance are 
monitored;

e. the University is expected to demonstrate 
effective governance and accountability; and

f. the University’s autonomy and academic freedom 
are maintained.

Overall, this Memorandum requires the University to:

a. give an annual assurance on quality and standards 
informed by an annual report from the Academic 
Board;

b. arrange periodic external quality assurance 
reviews and share outcomes with the GRA; 

c. share data on student recruitment, retention, 
completion, destinations and complaints; 

d. submit audited accounts to the GRA, complete 
with a corporate governance statement, statement 
of primary responsibilities and confirmation that 
HM Government of Gibraltar funds have been 
used for the purposes intended; 

e. give an annual assurance of compliance by the 
University with the 2015 Act; 

f. share long-term financial forecasts (business plan) 
with the GRA; 

g. submit an annual budget for approval by the 
Minister;

h. produce - and share with the GRA - annual Audit 
Committee assurances on internal control and risk 
management; 

i. arrange periodic independent reviews of Board 
of Governors and Audit Committee effectiveness 
and share the reports and action plans with the 
GRA; 

j. notify the GRA of any unforeseen material adverse 
developments that concern quality and standards, 
finance or internal control; 

k. alert the GRA to any threats to the University’s 
autonomy and academic freedom.

Further important progress was made after the 
reporting period with the University of Gibraltar 
(Academic Board) Regulations 2018 (‘the Academic 
Board Regulations’), also issued in accordance with 
the Act, and which came into force on 24 September 
2018. The Academic Board Regulations established 
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an Academic Board as an autonomous committee 
of the University with responsibility to the Board of 
Governors. Its duties involve undertaking the academic 
governance functions of the University.

The regulatory framework described above will be 
key to seeking quality assurance accreditation from 
international accreditation bodies in due course. 

Board of Governors

The Board is the supreme governing body of the 
University and is therefore collectively accountable 
for all institutional activities, taking final decisions 
where required and after full consultation with the 
Vice-Chancellor on matters of fundamental concern 
within its remit. It consists at present of nine members, 
comprising the Vice-Chancellor (Ag.), the Director of 
Education, the University’s financial comptroller, three 
members appointed by the Minister with responsibility 
for the University, the elected staff representative, and 
two other members appointed by the Board. 

The Board is obliged to meet at least once every three 
months and three members constitute a valid quorum. 
The following Board meetings were held during the 
year; 

• 2 August 2017
• 21 September 2017
• 7 November 2017
• 20 December 2017
• 21 December 2017
• 15 March 2018
• 23 May 2018
• 4 June 2018
• 22 June 2018
• 19 July 2018

The Board has established an Audit Committee which 
reports directly to it.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is required to have at least two 
formal meetings in each financial year. The external 
auditors or any member of the Board may request 
a meeting of the Audit Committee if they consider 
it necessary. The Chair of the Audit Committee is 
required to be a member of the Board who is neither a 
member of staff nor a student. Other Audit Committee 
members comprise at least one but not more than 
two other members of the University Board who are 

neither members of staff nor students, plus at least 
one but not more than two committee members who 
are not members of the Board.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities are set out in 
their detailed Terms of Reference. These include inter 
alia; 

• advising the Board of Governors on the terms 
of engagement, fees, and any questions of 
resignation or dismissal of the external or internal 
auditors; 

• engaging with the external and internal auditors in 
relation to the nature and scope of the audit; 

• discussing with the external and internal auditors 
any issues arising from their audit; 

• keeping under review the effectiveness of 
the risk management, control and governance 
arrangements, and considering the annual risk 
management report to the Board of Governors; 

• reviewing the University’s risk assessment and 
strategy; 

• reviewing the external auditors’ management 
letter, and the annual report to the Minister as 
required under s.44 of the University of Gibraltar 
Act; 

• monitoring annually the performance and 
effectiveness of external auditors;

• reviewing the internal auditors’ risk assessment, 
strategy and programme, considering major 
findings and management response;

• promoting co-ordination between internal and 
external auditors; 

• reviewing the annual financial statements of the 
University and its wholly owned subsidiary in 
order to be able to recommend these for adoption 
by the Board of Governors; and,

• reporting to the Board of Governors on any matter 
which the Audit Committee considers may have an 
adverse effect on the solvency of the University or 
the security or integrity of the University’s assets.

Governance Responsibilities

The Vice-Chancellor is the chief executive officer who 
sets the strategic direction of the University, with the 
approval of the Board of Governors, and provides 
it with academic leadership. The Vice-Chancellor 
recommends to the Board appointments, promotions 
and removal of members of the teaching and 
administrative staffs and the officers and employees 
of the University. 
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Academic Board has been established to provide 
academic governance for the University. Leadership of 
all aspects of the academic activity of the University 
rests with the Vice-Chancellor, who develops both 
strategy and policy, and manages operational aspects 
of this area of work through the executive team and 
the academic and administrative staff; however, 
oversight and governance for this activity rests with 
Academic Board. While ultimate responsibility for 
all matters remains with the Board of Governors in 
accordance with practice in most universities, the 
Board of Governors delegates this responsibility 
to Academic Board, which also reflects accepted 
international practice.

The University of Gibraltar Act provides for institutional 
autonomy and academic freedom for the University. 
The Act requires that the University, its Board and 
other constituent bodies shall be free from interference 
from external bodies, and that principles of freedom of 
inquiry and research, teaching and expression shall be 
respected.   

The University of Gibraltar Act also requires that the 
University shall use its best endeavours to become 
and remain self-financing.

Autonomy and Academic Freedom 

As required by the University of Gibraltar (Regulation 
and Accountability) Regulations 2018, the University 
duly confirms in this Corporate Governance Statement 
that it has been able to operate throughout the 
reporting period without undue interference from 
external bodies.

Statement of Responsibilities of the Board of Governors  

The University of Gibraltar Act vests the management, 
administration and control of the property, revenue and 
business of the University, in the Board. This includes 
receiving from the Vice-Chancellor and adopting 
budgets for operating and capital expenditure, setting 
fees and entering into agreements. It must at all times 
manage the expenditures of the University prudently. 
The Board must arrange for an audit of the University’s 
annual accounts and, with the Vice-Chancellor, 
must provide an annual report to the Minister with 
responsibility for the University which must include 
a balance sheet and a statement of revenue and 
expenditure, and the results of the annual audit.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with Gibraltar Financial Reporting Standard 
102 (GFRS 102), the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education 2015, and applicable laws and regulations.

The Board should not approve the consolidated 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, and the 
statement of comprehensive income for that period, 
of the University. When preparing the University’s 
consolidated financial statements, the Board will;

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent;

• ensure applicable accounting standards have 
been followed subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the University will continue in operation;

• ensure there is no relevant audit information of 
which the company’s auditors are unaware.

In addition, the Board has taken reasonable steps to:

• ensure that funds received from HM Government 
of Gibraltar or private donations and endowments 
are used only for the purposes for which they 
have been given;

• ensure that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard public 
funds and funds from other sources; and

• secure the economic and effective management 
of the University’s resources and expenditure.

The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the 
University observes its charitable objects.

Statement on Disclosure of Information to the Auditors  

So far as the Board of Governors is aware, there is 
no relevant audit related information of which the 
University’s auditors are unaware.

Statement on Public Benefit 

The University is a public benefit entity as defined by 
GFRS 102. It is a registered charity whose charitable 
objects are to further its principal mission to respond 
to current societal needs as well as shape personal 
and professional futures through the pursuit of 
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education, training, and research. The University’s 
main beneficiaries are its students who are engaged in 
learning and research. Other beneficiaries may include 
employers, industry, any party that may benefit 
from research facilitated by the University, and the 
community of Gibraltar.

Risk Management Statement of internal control

The Board of Governors is responsible for maintaining, 
and reviewing as appropriate, a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of 
policies, aims and objectives, while safeguarding public 
and other funds and assets for which it is responsible. 
This is done in accordance with the responsibilities 
placed on the Board by the University of Gibraltar Act, 
including powers to receive from the Vice-Chancellor 
and adopt with or without modifications the budgets 
for operating and capital expenditure, and to set fees. 
The Act imposes restrictions on general and short 
term borrowing and obliges the Board at all times to 
manage the expenditures of the University prudently.

The system of risk management and internal control 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; 
it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. It is based on an 
on-going process, in accordance with the University’s 
risk management policy, designed to identify the 
principal risks to the achievement of policies, aims and 
objectives; to evaluate the nature and extent of those 
risks; and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. It also takes account of the small size of 
the University of Gibraltar and the close involvement 
of the Vice-Chancellor and senior management team 
with daily operations. Risk is regularly considered by 
the Vice-Chancellor, senior management team and 
Board of Governors in decision making.

The Board of Governors meets regularly to consider 
strategic, policy and oversight matters, and also 
annual reports. The Vice-Chancellor and the senior 
management team are responsible for the day to day 
management of the University, including supervision of 
risk management, and management and achievement 
of value for money in their respective areas of 
operation.

The Audit Committee is required to review the 
University’s risk assessment and strategy, and to 
ensure that the resources made available for internal 
financial control are sufficient to meet the University’s 

needs. For further information regarding the Audit 
Committee’s responsibilities please refer to ‘Audit 
Committee’ section above.

The Board, acting through the Audit Committee, will 
very shortly appoint independent internal auditors 
who will undertake a rolling internal audit programme, 
reporting directly to the Audit Committee. The 
internal auditors’ role will assist the Audit Committee 
in its monitoring of the University’s financial health, 
by monitoring the implementation of the University’s 
approved strategy with regard to financial matters, 
reviewing and testing internal controls, and monitoring 
arrangements for safeguarding the University's assets.

The Operating and Financial Review set out on pages 
10 to 23 was approved by the Board of Governors on 
20 December 2018 and signed on its behalf on that 
date by:

Albert Langston
Chairman of the Board of Governors

Prof. Catherine Bachleda
Vice-Chancellor (Ag.)
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of the University 
of Gibraltar (the ‘University’):
• give a true and fair view of the state of the 

University’s affairs as at 31 July 2018 and of its 
deficit for the year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
Gibraltar Financial Reporting Standards.

We have audited the financial statements which 
comprise:
• the consolidated and University statement of 

comprehensive income;
• the consolidated and University statement of 

changes in reserves;
• the consolidated and University balance sheet;
• the consolidated cash flow statement;
• the statement of principal accounting policies; and
• the related notes 1 to 20.

The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law in Gibraltar 
and Gibraltar Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the University in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The Board of Governors are responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report, other 

than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that 
fact.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the 
Financial Statment 

The Board of Governors are responsible for the 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with applicable law in Gibraltar 
and Gibraltar Financial Reporting Standards, and 
for such internal control as the Board of Governors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of 
Governors are responsible for assessing the University’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
University intends to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statement

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
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includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the University’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
University. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the University’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
University’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the University to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 

content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the University regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Board of Governors those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the University and the Board 
of Governors as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Reshma Bhambhwani 
For and on behalf of Deloitte Limited
Merchant House
22/24 John Mackintosh Square
Gibraltar

20 December 2018
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Consolidated and University Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year ended 31 July 2018 Year ended 31 July 2017

Notes Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Income

Tuition fees and education contracts 1 372,770 - 252,048 -

Funding body grants 2 1,423,265 - 2,206,928 -

Research grants and contracts 3 44,027 44,027 29,320 29,320

Other income 4 94,649 - 90,787 -

Total income before endowments and donations 1,934,711 44,027 2,579,083 29,320

Donations and endowments 5 456,000 - 1,000 -

Total income 2,390,711 44,027 2,580,083 29,320

Expenditure

Staff costs 6 1,312,708 - 996,964 -

Other operating expenses 7 937,790 20,261 706,688 10,823

Depreciation 9 240,188 5,454 223,005 5,454

Total expenditure 2,490,686 25,715 1,926,657 16,277

(Deficit) / Surplus before other gains or losses (99,975) 18,312 653,426 13,043

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - - 19,203 -

(Deficit) / Surplus before tax (99,975) 18,312 634,223 13,043

Taxation 8 - - - -

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year and total 
comprehensive income for the year (99,975) 18,312 634,223 13,043

Represented by:

Endowment comprehensive income for the 
year 17 (5,455) (5,455) (5,454) (5,454)

Restricted comprehensive income for the year 18 296,331 - - -

Unrestricted comprehensive income for the 
year (390,851) 23,767 639,677 18,497

(99,975) 18,312 634,223 13,043

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.
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Consolidated and University Statement of
Changes in Reserves
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Consolidated Income and expenditure account Total

Endowment Restricted Unrestricted

£ £ £ £

Balance at 31 July 2016 535,000 - 273,784 808,784

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement - 13,043 621,180 634,223

Transfers between endowment and unrestricted income (5,454) - 5,454 -

Transfers between restricted and unrestricted income - (13,043) 13,043 -

Total comprehensive income for the year (5,454) - 639,677 634,223

Balance at 31 July 2017 529,546 - 913,461 1,443,007

Surplus / (Deficit) from the income and expenditure 
statement - 474,312 (574,287) (99,975)

Transfers between endowment and unrestricted income (5,455) - 5,455 -

Transfers between restricted and unrestricted income - (177,981) 177,981 -

Total comprehensive income for the year (5,455) 296,331 (390,851) (99,975)

Balance at 31 July 2018 524,091 296,331 522,610 1,343,032

University Income and expenditure account Total

Endowment Restricted Unrestricted

£ £ £ £

Balance at 31 July 2016 535,000 - 7,099 542,099

Surplus / (Deficit)  from the income and expenditure 
statement - 13,043 (5,454) 7,589

Transfers between endowment and unrestricted income (5,454) - 5,454 -

Transfers between restricted and unrestricted income - (13,043) 13,043 -

Total comprehensive income for the year (5,454) - 13,043 7,589

Balance at 31 July 2017 529,546 - 20,142 549,688

Surplus  / (Deficit) from the income and expenditure 
statement - 18,312 (5,455) 12,857

Transfers between endowment and unrestricted income (5,455) - 5,455 -

Transfers between restricted and unrestricted income - (18,312) 18,312 -

Total comprehensive income for the year (5,455) - 18,312 12,857

Balance at 31 July 2018 524,091 - 38,454 562,545
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Consolidated and University Balance Sheet
As at 31 July 2018

As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Notes Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Non-current assets

Fixed assets 9 5,572,364 524,092 5,710,144 529,546

Investments 10 - 1,000 - 1,000

5,572,364 525,092 5,710,144 530,546

Current assets

Stock 11 5,182 - 6,811 -

Trade and other receivables 12 131,249 38,159 184,943 27.326

Investments 13 - - 200,000 -

Cash and cash equivalents 14 838,872 - 689,213 -

975,303 38,159 1,080,967 27,326

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (396,550) (706) (385,056) (8,184)

Net current assets 578,753 37,453 695,911 19,142

Total assets less current liabilities 6,151,117 562,545 6,406,055 549,688

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 
one year 16 (4,808,085) - (4,963,048) -

Total net assets 1,343,032 562,545 1,443,007 549,688

Restricted Reserves 

Income and expenditure reserve - restricted 
reserve 18 296,331 - - -

Income and expenditure reserve - endowment 
reserve 17 524,091 524,091 529,546 529,546

Unrestricted Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve - unrestricted 522,610 38,454 913,461 20,142

Total Reserves 1,343,032 562,545 1,443,007 549,688

Albert Langston
Chairman of the Board of Governors

Professor Catherine Bachleda
Vice-Chancellor (Ag.)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 July 2018

Notes Year ended 31 
July 2018

Year ended 31 
July 2017

£ £

Cash flow from operating activities

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year (99,975) 634,223 

Adjustment for non-cash items

Depreciation 9 240,188 223,005 

Decrease in stock 11 1,629 161

Decrease in debtors 12 53,695 120,454 

Decrease in creditors 15, 16 (143,470) (265,114) 

Loss on the sale of fixed assets 9 - 19,203

Adjustment for investing or financing activities

Release of donations with restrictions (456,000) -

Net cash (outflow) /  inflow from operating activities (403,933) 731,932

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments made to acquire fixed assets 9 (102,408) (99,040)

Withdrawal / (increase) in current asset investments 13 200,000 (200,000)

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities 97,592 (299,040)

Cash flows from financing activities

Donations received 456,000 -

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 149,659 432,892

Cash and cash  equivalents at beginning of the year 14 689,213 256,321

Cash and cash  equivalents at end of the year 14 838,872 689,213
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 
Year Ended 31 July 2018

A. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education 2015 and in accordance with Gibraltar Financial Reporting Standard (GFRS 102). The University 
is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied the relevant public benefit disclosure requirements of GFRS 102. The financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items that are considered material in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements.

B. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the University and its wholly owned subsidiary The University of Gibraltar Limited for 
the financial year to 31 July 2018. The subsidiary has been consolidated using merger accounting and intra-group transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation. The results shown in the financial statements under columns headed “University” refer to transactions 
carried out specifically as transactions of the  University of Gibraltar, and exclude all transactions carried out in the name of the 
subsidiary The University of Gibraltar Limited. The large bulk of transactions are carried out in the name of the subsidiary and these 
are included within columns headed “Consolidated” as explained above.

As required by the SORP, a separate Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet and Statement of Changes in Reserves for 
the University are presented.

C. Income recognition

Income from the sale of goods, including merchandise sold by the University gift shop or services, including tuition fees, examination 
fees and venue hire charges, is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the goods or services are supplied to 
external customers or the terms of the contract have been satisfied.

Tuition fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and credited to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the period in which students are studying. Where the amount of the tuition fee is reduced, by a discount for prompt 
payment, income receivable is shown net of the discount.

Income from research grants, contracts and other services rendered is included to the extent of completion of the contract or service 
concerned. Amounts received in relation to EU research projects are recognised as income on a systematic basis in the period to 
which it relates.

Investment income is credited to the statement of income and expenditure on a receivable basis.

Grant funding
Government revenue grants including research grants are recognised as income over the periods in which the University recognises 
the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. HM Government of Gibraltar grant income is recognised on an 
accruals basis and is used for capital and operational expenditure as necessary. Government grants used for capital expenditure are 
recognised in income over the expected useful life of the asset.

Where part of a government grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between creditors 
due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.

Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources are recognised as income when the University is entitled to the 
income.

Donations and endowments
Donations and endowments with donor imposed restrictions are recognised as income when the University is entitled to the funds.

Income is retained within the restricted reserve until such time that it is utilised in line with such restrictions at which point the 
income is released to general reserves through a reserve transfer.

Donations and endowments with no restrictions are recognised as income when the University is entitled to the funds.

The transfer of the land and buildings to the University by HM Government of Gibraltar at fair value has been recorded as endowment 
income. This takes account of restrictions on the permitted use of the land and buildings which must be for the pursuit of education, 
training and research.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 
(cont.) 
Year Ended 31 July 2018

D. Accounting for retirement benefits

The University does not offer its own pension scheme but it may contribute to two defined contribution occupational pension 
schemes administered by HM Government of Gibraltar which are available to eligible staff, the Guaranteed Superannuation Fund 
(GSF) and the Gibraltar Provident Trust No 2 (GPT2). Contributions are charged as an expense to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income where already paid by the year-end, or are recognised as a liability where they are due but not paid by the year-end.

E. Employment benefits

Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
employees render service to the University. Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the University 
expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.  

F. Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency (GBP) using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

G. Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over its expected useful life as follows:

Training Kitchen & Lab Equipment
Fixtures, Fittings & Equipment
Computer Equipment & Software
Other fixed assets

5 years
10 years
5 years
10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance Sheet.

Leasehold Land and Buildings
Leasehold land and building fixed assets were transferred to the University on the 1st September 2015 on a 99 year lease. They are 
now carried at fair value. Any subsequent additions to land and buildings are to be included at cost. Expenditure to ensure that a 
tangible fixed asset maintains its previously recognised standard of performance is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period it is incurred.

Land and buildings are depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 99 years

Building refurbishment
Building refurbishment is based on the cost of the extensive refurbishment which took place prior to the University’s inauguration.

The refurbishment is stated at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life as follows:

Building refurbishment 100 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance Sheet.

H. Stocks

Stocks are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and are measured using an average cost formula.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 
(cont.) 
Year Ended 31 July 2018

I. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they are in practice 
available within twenty four hours without penalty.

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

J. Investments

Investments are carried at cost less impairment in the University’s accounts.

Current asset investments are held at fair value with movements recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

K. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:
  (a) the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
  (b) it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
  (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the University a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed 
by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the University. Contingent liabilities also 
arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the University a possible asset whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the University.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.

The Univeristy believes there are no provisions, or contingent assets or liabilities, that currently require disclosure, following 
consideration and review by management.

L. Reserves

Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted endowment reserves include balances which, through endowment 
to the University, are held as a restricted fund and will be recognised on entitlement to income, with movements to unrestricted 
reserves if appropriate.

Other restricted reserves include balances where the donor has designated a specific purpose and therefore the University is 
restricted in the use of these funds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2018 Year Ended 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Notes £ £ £ £

1. Tuition fees and education contracts

Part-time home and EU students 372,770 - 250,838 -

Part-time international students - - 1,210 -

372,770 - 252,048 -

2. Funding body grants

Government Grant

HM Government of Gibraltar 1,423,265 - 2,206,928 -

1,423,265 - 2,206,928 -

The total HM Government of Gibraltar grant funding for the period from commencement in August 2014 to the 31 July 2018 is 
£10,875,000. This amount is on a cash spent basis and therefore differs from the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Consolidated Balance Sheet which are stated on an accruals basis. The HM Government of Gibraltar tranche due in July 2018 
was received after the year end and is not included in the amount above.

3. Research grants and contracts

EU research projects 44,027 44,027 29,320 29,320

44,027 44,027 29,320 29,320

4. Other income

Venue hire, examination centre and conferences 72,427 - 61,838 - 

Restaurant income 17,235 -

Student shop income 1,029 - 1,499 - 

Other income 3,958 - 27,450 - 

94,649 - 90,787 - 

5. Donations and endowments

Donations with restrictions 456,000 - - -

Unrestricted donations - - 1,000 -

456,000 - 1,000 -

During the financial year a donation of £450,000 was received from the Parasol Foundation Trust. The remaining amount 
relates to other donations received. All donations with restrictions are applied in accordance with the donor agreemen-
ts.                                                                                                                                        
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2018 Year Ended 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Notes £ £ £ £

6. Staff Costs

Staff Costs :

   Salaries 1,162,836 - 871,671 -

   Social security costs 46,004 - 29,831 -

   Other pension costs 93,481 - 90,433 -

   Holiday pay accrual expense 10,387 - 5,029 -

1,312,708 - 996,964 -

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions:

Year Ended 
31 July 2018

Year Ended 
31 July 2017

No. No.

£70,000-£79,999 5 4

£80,000-£89,999 - - 

£90,000-£99,999 1 1

6 5

Average staff numbers by major category : No. No.

Academic & research (including part-time teaching 
staff) 14 10

Central Administration 13 11

Campus 3 2

30 23

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the University. Staff costs include compensation paid to key management personnel.

The Key management personnel are the Vice-Chancellor, the University Executive team and executive directors. Compensation 
consists of salary and benefits excluding any employer’s pension contribution.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2018 Year Ended 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Notes £ £ £ £

6. Staff costs (continued)

Key management personnel compensation 472,638 399,270

472,638 399,270

7. Analysis of other operating expenses

Academic and related expenditure 337,376 - 199,083 -

Premises and facilities management expenses 247,971 - 213,243 -

Catering and conferences 4,565 - 12,581 -

Research grants and contracts 30,690 20,261 13,488 10,823

Administration and general expenses 266,882 - 241,280 -

Professional and consulting expenses 19,659 - 19,121 -

Staff development 30,647 - 7,892 -

937,790 20,261 706,688 10,823

Other operating expenses include:

External auditors remuneration in respect of audit 
services 6,505 - 6,235 - 

8. Taxation

In accordance with the University of Gibraltar Act 2015, unless otherwise provided in an Act, any University income and property 
are exempt from taxation.

This exemption extends to any subsidiary company of the University.



41Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017 — 2018 

Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

9. Fixed assets

Consolidated

Leasehold
Land & 

Buildings
Building 

Refurbishment

Training 
Kitchen

& Lab
Equipment

Fixtures, 
Fittings & 

Equipment

Computer 
Equipment 
& Software

Other 
fixed 

assets Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2017 540,000 4,635,824 393,398 213,496 343,396 24,836 6,150,950

Additions - 5,274 45,955 14,197 28,240 8,742 102,408

Disposals - - - - - - -

At 31 July 2018 540,000 4,641,098 439,353 227,693 371,636 33,578 6,253,358

Depreciation

At 1 August 2017 10,454 92,716 157,360 41,774 133,585 4,918 440,806

Charge for the 
year 5,455 46,411 87,870 22,769 74,325 3,358 240,188

Disposals - - - - - - -

At 31 July 2018 15,909 139,127 245,230 64,543 207,910 8,276 680,994

Net book value

At 31 July 2018 524,091 4,501,971 194,123 163,150 163,726 25,302 5,572,364

At 31 July 2017 529,546 4,543,108 236,038 171,722 209,811 19,918 5,710,144

University £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2017 540,000 - - - - - 540,000

Additions - -

Disposals - - - - - - -

At 31 July 2018 540,000 - - - - - 540,000

Depreciation

At 1 August 2017 10,454 - - - - - 10,454

Charge for the 
year 5,454 - - - - - 5,454

At 31 July 2018 15,908 - - - - - 15,908

Net book value

At 31 July 2018 524,092 - - - - - 524,092

At 31 July 2017 529,546 - - - - - 529,546

On the 1st September 2015 leasehold land and buildings were endowed by HM Government of Gibraltar to the University on a 99 year 
lease. The land and buildings were later valued for accounting purposes at £540,000 at the date of transfer which is the estimated fair value 
of the asset.

On the 15th June 2017 a 7 year sub-lease was granted to Lord Nelson Limited in respect of the restaurant area, which led to the official 
opening of Bistro Point Restaurant on the 20th October 2017. The restaurant is independently operated by the Hunter Group in return for a 
turnover based rent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

10. Non-current investments

University Subsidiary companies Total

£ £

At 1 August 2017 1,000 1,000

Additions - -

At 31 July 2018 1,000 1,000

The University holds all issued shares in the following company which has been incorporated in Gibraltar and whose results are 
consolidated into these financial statements.

Company Principal Activity Status

The University of 
Gibraltar Limited

Commercial and 
operational activity

100% owned and 
controlled

11. Stock

As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Finished goods 5,182 - 6,811 - 

5,182 - 6,811 - 

12. Trade and other receivables

As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Amounts falling due within one year:

Research grants receivable 38,159 38,159 27,326 27,326

Government grant receivable - - 76,570 -

Other trade receivables - - 4,420 - 

Other receivables 35,308 - 17,864 -

Prepayments and accrued income 57,782 - 58,763 -

131,249 38,159 184,943 27,326
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

13. Current asset Investments

As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Short term deposits - - 200,000 - 

- - 200,000 - 

Deposits are held with banks operating in Gibraltar and licensed by the Gibraltar Financial Services Commission with more than three 
months to maturity at the balance sheet date.  The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the duration of the deposit at time 
of placement.

14. Cash and cash equivalents

As at 1st 
August 2017 Cash Flows As  at 31st 

July 2018

£ £ £

Consolidated

Cash and cash equivaltents 689,213 149,659 838,872

689,213 149,659 838,972

A total of £296,331 included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents as at the 31 July 2018 is in respect of restricted dona-
tions.

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

As at  31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Trade payables 55,942 - 41,787 7,184

Other creditors 14,033 - 6,500 -

Unpaid share capital - 706 - 1,000

Accruals and deferred income 326,575 - 336,769 - 

Amounts due to related party - - - - 

396,550 706 385,056 8,184

Deferred income

Included within accruals and deferred income are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific performance 
related conditions have been met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (continued)

Deferred income (continued) As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

£ £

Tuition fees 12,158 11,975

Deferred income - research grant 28,905 13,698

Deferred HM Government of Gibraltar- grant 
income - 58,673

Deferred HM Government of Gibraltar - capital 
expenditure 240,188 217,551

281,251 301,897

16. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

As at 31 July 2018 As at 31 July 2017

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£ £ £ £

Deferred income 4,808,085 - 4,963,048 -

4,808,085 - 4,963,048 -

Deferred income relates entirely to HM Government of Gibraltar grant income which has been used for capital expenditure and is
therefore recognised as income over the expected useful lives of the assets acquired, in accordance with fixed asset depreciation 
policies as described in the Statement of Principal Accounting Policies. Any such deferred income is allocated between creditors due 
within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.

17. Endowment reserves

Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:
Consolidated and University

Restricted 
permanent 

endowments
 Year ended 

31 July 2018 
 Year ended 

31 July 2017 

Total Total

£ £ £

Balance at 31 July 2017 529,546 529,546 535,000

New endowments   -    -  -

Release of endowment charged in comprehensive income statement (5,455) (5,455) (5,454)

At 31 July 2018 524,091 524,091 529,546 

Represented by:   Capital 524,091 524,091 529,546 

Analysis by type of purpose & asset class: Leashold land and buildings 524,091 529,546 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018

18. Restricted Reserves (Consolidated)

Donations
Year ended 31 

July 2018 
Total

Year ended 31 
July 2017 

Total

£ £ £

Balances at 1 August 2018 - - -

New donations 456,000 456,000 -

Expenditure (159,669) (159,669) -

Restricted comprehensive income for the year 18,312 18,312 13,043

Transfers between restricted and unrestricted reserve (18,312) (18,312) (13,043)

At 31 July 2018 296,331 296,331 -

Year ended 31 
July 2018 

Total

Year ended 31 
July 2017 

Total

Analysis of other restricted funds/ donations by type of purpose: General 296,331 -

University donations with restrictions with general purpose are to be used for curriculum development, the development of the 
library and other university activities.

19. Pension schemes

Eligible University staff can opt for either of two defined contribution pension schemes administered by HM Government of Gibral-
tar; Guaranteed Superannuation Fund (GSF) and the Gibraltar Provident Trust No 2 (GPT2). Most pensionable staff members opted 
for the GSF option.

Notes Year Ended 31 
July 2018

Year Ended 31 
July 2017

Consolidated Consolidated

£ £

GPT2 contributions paid - 511

GSF contributions paid 6 93,481 89,922

93,481 90,433

The GSF being where the bulk of pension contributions are maintained are held in trust via a Government Special Fund - the 
Government Trusts Fund established under the Public Finance (Control and Audit) Act.  The Scheme funds are invested in the 
Guaranteed Superannuation Fund Bond issued by the Gibraltar Savings Bank. 
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20. Related party transactions

Transactions with organisations related to Governors

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors, being drawn from local public and 
private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Board of 
Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an 
interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and usual procurement practices.

Non-executive members of the Board of Governors do not receive remuneration in respect of their roles as Governors. As at 31 July 
2018 a total of £nil (2017: £nil) was due to Board members.

Relevant significant relationships held by non-executive members of the Board of Governors who served in the year are as follows. 
For full analysis of movements in the Board of Governors please refer to our Report of the Board of Governors and Governance 
Statement:

i)  Albert Langston is non- executive Chairman of Gibraltar International Bank.

ii) Dr Joseph Britto was Director of Education, HM Government of Gibraltar (retired). Dr Britto retired from the Board of Governors 
4th June 2018

iii) Francis Carreras was Commissioner of Income Tax, HM Government of Gibraltar (retired)

iv) Prof. Clive Finlayson is Director, Chief Scientist & Curator at the Gibraltar Museum

v) Ernest Gomez was Chief Secretary, HM Government of Gibraltar (retired). Mr Gomez retired from the Board of Governors 24th 
September 2018

vi) Darren Grech is Chief Secretary, HM Government of Gibraltar.

vii) Jackie Mason is Director of Education, HM Government of Gibraltar.

viii) Peter Montegriffo is a Senior Partner, Hassans International Law Firm. Mr Montegriffo retired from the Board of Governors 24th 
September 2018

ix) Prof. Ian Peate is Head of School of Health Studies at Gibraltar Health Authority.

x) Jose Julio Pisharello was Managing Partner, EY Limited. Mr Pisharello retired from the Board of Governors 24th September 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
(contd.)
Year Ended 31 July 2018
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Academic Board

University Beacon Professors 
Professor David Abulafia 
Professor John Cortes

Professor Catherine Bachleda (Chair)    Vice-Chancellor (Ag), chair AQSC   
Professor David Abulafia      External member
Dr Keith Bensusan      Chair RRDC
Dr Darren Fa       Director Academic Programmes and Research
Dr Martin Hale       Academic Staff representative
Dr Nick Pye       Head School of Sport
Professor John White      External member

Executive Team
Professor Catherine Bachleda     Vice-Chancellor (Ag), chair Academic Board 
Paul Bowling      Chief Financial and Operations Officer
Christian Celecia      Director of Information and Communication 
       Technologies
Nadine Collado       Director of Professional Development & Continuing  
       Education
Dr Darren Fa       Director Academic Programmes and Research
Krystle Robba       Registrar
       

Audit Committee
Frank Carreras (Chair)     Board of Governors, University of Gibraltar  
Albert Langston      Chair of Board of Governors, University of Gibraltar
Desiree McHard      Managing Director, BDO Gibratlar    
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Key Advisory Groups
Business Key Advisory Group

Stephen Reyes -  Chair, Partner, Delotte Ltd
Janet Brear -  Chair, Women in Business
Julian Byrne -  Gibraltar Federation of Small  
   Businesses
Ian Collinson -  President, Gibraltar Society  
   of Accountants
Christian Hernandez - President, Gibraltar   
   Chamber of Commerce
Peter Howitt -  CEO, Gibraltar Betting and  
   Gaming Association
Joey Imossi  -  Vice Chairman, 
   Gibraltar Association of 
   Trust and Company   
   Managers
Edward Macquisten - CEO, Gibraltar Chamber of  
   Commerce
Benjamin Moss - Chairman, Gibraltar Bankers  
   Associate 
Dayan Nahon 
Lorraine Povedano - Deputy President, Gibraltar  
   Insurance Institute
Ian Torrilla  -   Representative of the GFSB
Lianne Azzopardi -  Representative of the GFSB

Law Key Advisory Group

Peter Montegriffo, QC - Chair, Senior Partner,   
   Hassans International Law  
   Firm
Ralph Bossino
Lloyd De Vincenzi – Senior Advisory Counsel
David Dumas, QC - Chairman of the Bar Council
Charles Gomez -  Liaison with Universidad de  
   Cadiz/Local Lawyer
Nicholas Gomez -  Barrister
Michael Llamas, QC – Attorney General
Nyreen Llamas –  Programme Leader,   
   Professional Certificate of  
   Law
Karl Tonna –   Senior Crown Counsel
Liam Yeats –  Registrar for Chief Justice  
   Chambers

Silver Education Key Advisory Group 

Tonia Brooks -   Chair
Julio Alcantara
Ernest Collado 
Joe Hernandez
Denis Hook
Leslie Lester
Norman Santos
William Serfaty
Margaret Sheriff
Rose Tilbury
Annette Tunbridge

Sports Key Advisory Group

Reagan Lima -   Chair and CEO, GSLA
Kenneth Asquez -  FIFA Registered Intermediary
Kim Chang -   Games Director, Gibraltar  
   2019 Natwest International  
   Island Games
Moira Gomez -   Chairperson, Gibraltar   
   Netball Association
John Gonçalves -  President, Gibraltar Amateur  
   Basketball Association
Joe Hernandez -  Sports Leadership and   
   Business Expert
Sally Holmes -   Technical Director, Gibraltar  
   Rhythmic Gymnastics   
   Association
Harry Murphy -   Board Member,    
   Commonwealth Games
Stephen Payas -   Coach, Sports Business and  
   Board Member
Ian Torrilla -   Gibraltar Football    
   Association
Maurice Stagnetto -  Chairperson, Gibraltar   
   Rugby Football Union
Jamie Zammitt -   President, Gibraltar Amateur  
   Swimming Association

Tourism & Hospitality Key Advisory Group

Nuria Saccone -   Chair, Head of Travel   
   Services, Blands 
Charles Danino -  Rock Hotel
Dr Keith Farrell -  Gibraltar Heritage Trust
Mandy Gaggero -  MH Bland
Nicky Guerrero -  Gibraltar Tourist Board
Mary Kinch -   Elliott Hotel
Tracy Lee -   Gibraltar Wine Vaults
Lucienne Mosquera -  Hospitality Business   
   Development Ltd
Franco Ostuni -   Caleta Hotel
Sixto Parody -  Manager, Parody Tours
John Paul Risso -  Chamber of Commerce
Marc Skvorc -   Sunborn Hotel
Juri Williamson -  Sunborn Hotel

New Technologies in Education Key Advisory Group

Paul Astengo  -  Senior Executive, Gibraltar  
   Finance   
Joey Britto -  Office of the Chief 
   Secretary and former   
   Director of Education
David Parody -  Chairman, Gibraltar 
   Association for New   
   Technologies
Keri Scott  -   Senior Education Adviser
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